RECEIVED

Sep 12 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2025-001409

Civil Case No.: 2022-CP-40-02958

Michael D. Jordan, Apple Services, Inc. and Plumbinator 1051, LLC Respondents,

v.

Liquid Services and Logistics, LLC and Tim Freeman Defendants,

Of whom Liquid Services and Logistics, LLC is Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Beth B. Richardson (SC Bar No. 69552)
Cordes B. Kennedy (SC Bar No. 102287)
Robinson Gray Stepp & Laffitte, LLC
2151 Pickens Street, Suite 500 (29201)
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, SC 29211

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower court err in failing to apply the well-established rule that summary judgment is a drastic remedy and that deference on disputed issues of fact should be given to LSL, the nonmoving party?
2. Did the lower court err in finding that the Earn-out payment was a sum certain, despite having not calculated the Post-Closing Adjustment and setting off same from the Earn-out as required by the APA?
3. Did the lower court err in awarding prejudgment interest on the Earn-out payment, even though the APA expressly stated that no such interest shall be awarded, and despite the fact that the Earn-out payment was not a liquidated damages to support prejudgment interest?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 10, 2021, Appellant Liquid Services and Logistics, LLC, (the buyer) entered into an Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “APA”) with Respondents Michael D. Jordan and Apple Services, Inc., (the sellers) for certain assets of Apple Services, Inc. At bottom, this case involves a dispute over two conditional payments set forth in the APA — (1) a Post-Closing Adjustment of Working Capital, and (2) Earn-out.

On June 8, 2022, Michael D. Jordan, Apple Services, Inc., and Plumbinator 1051, LLC, filed a Complaint in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas, alleging claims against Liquid Services and Logistics, LLC, and/or Tim Freeman for breach of contract (the APA); breach of contract accompanied by fraud; conversion; defamation; negligence; nuisance/trespass; quantum meruit; and accounting. This action — hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “APA Matter” — is the subject of the current appeal. A second, companion case was commenced on March 14, 2023, by Plumbinator 1047, LLC, an entity owned by Respondent Michael D. Jordan, against

Appellant Liquid Services and Logistics, LLC, arising out of a commercial lease dispute (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “Eviction Matter”).¹ While the Eviction Matter is not subject to the current appeal, it is relevant to the procedural history of the APA Matter.

On October 30, 2023, in the APA Matter, Respondents Michael Jordan and Apple Services filed a partial Motion for Summary Judgment on their breach of contract claim. The following evidence was produced in support of that Motion:

- Affidavit of Respondent Michael D. Jordan;
- Affidavit of Ashley Hawn, an employee of Respondent Jordan; and
- Affidavit of Stephen Porter, counsel of record for the Respondents.

Later, on December 1, 2023, Respondents amended their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment to remove Mr. Porter’s Affidavit and to amend Respondent Jordan’s Affidavit. No additional evidence was added in support of the Motion.

Respondents’ Motion remained pending for a year and a half without a hearing. Then, on January 3, 2025, the Eviction Matter was voluntarily dismissed by the plaintiff (an entity owned by Respondent Jordan) pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRCF. Once the Eviction Matter was dismissed, Respondents shifted their focus to the APA Matter and requested that the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., hear their partial Motion for Summary Judgment on the breach of contract claim originally filed on October 30, 2023. Finally, a hearing was scheduled on Respondents’ Motion for March 31, 2025, a year and a half after it was filed.

However, on March 28, 2025, the undersigned appeared as counsel of record for Appellant LSL, less than three days before the hearing. The court continued the hearing until April 17, 2025.

¹ See *Plumbinator 1047, LLC, v. Liquid Services and Logistics, LLC*, filed in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas, on March 14, 2023, Civil Action No. 2023-CP-40-01360.

On April 16, 2025, less than one day before the hearing, Respondents filed a Supplemental Memorandum of Law to support their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, introducing new evidence that had not been presented in the original or Amended Motion. The evidence included:

- Appellant LSL's responses to Respondents' Requests to Admit; and
- Several emails, including an email dated May 17, 2022, from Respondents' counsel (Stephen Porter) to LSL's former attorney (Dana Coleman).

At the hearing on April 17, Appellant LSL requested leave to respond to Respondents' Memorandum because it had been submitted the day before the hearing and introduced new evidence. However, the court denied said leave.

On May 7, 2025, the lower court entered an Order granting Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the breach of contract claim, holding that Appellant LSL had breached the APA by failing to pay Respondents an Earn-out payment of \$882,000. *See* Order, filed May 8, 2025, at 5. The lower court also awarded prejudgment interest on the Earn-out payment totaling \$229,199.18. *Id.* at 9. However, the court denied entry of judgment on the Post-Closing Adjustment, finding that a genuine issue of material fact existed as to the amount owed, and to whom it was owed, and it denied attorney's fees. *Id.* at 5, 7.

Appellant LSL timely filed a Motion to Reconsider within ten (10) days of the court's Order, and a copy of that Motion was emailed to the lower court per Rule 59(g), SCRCPP. On June 12, 2025, the lower court entered a Form 4 Order denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider; however, on that same day, the lower court amended its original Order to correct several factual errors that it deemed "immaterial" and "minor." *See* Form 4 Order.

On July 14, 2025, Appellant LSL timely filed this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. The Parties and the Transaction.

On May 10, 2021, Respondents sold certain assets of Apple Services, Inc. to Appellant Liquid Services and Logistics (hereinafter, “LSL”) pursuant to an Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “APA”). Per the APA, LSL agreed to buy, and Respondents agreed to sell, certain assets of Apple Services, Inc., including its goodwill, furniture, fixtures, and equipment. Compl. ¶ 8. At closing, LSL paid to Respondents a base purchase price of \$2,930,000, as required by the APA. *See id.* ¶¶ 8, 9; *see also* Compl. at Ex. A, APA § 3.1. That payment is not in dispute. Instead, the issues before this Court are two other conditional payments — (1) a Post Closing Adjustment of Working Capital, and (2) an Earn-out payment — and whether these payments were properly calculated, to whom they are owed, and when they are due. *See* APA §§ 3.2, 3.3.

II. Relevant Portions of the APA.

a. The Post Closing Adjustment of Working Capital.

The first conditional payment was a Post Closing Adjustment of Working Capital, which considers the working capital of Apple Services’ business as of the date of closing. To briefly summarize, if the working capital exceeded \$84,000 as of the date of closing, LSL must pay Respondents the difference (i.e., the “Post Closing Adjustment”), but if the working capital was less than \$84,000, Respondents must pay LSL the difference. *Id.* at § 3.2(a)(ii). To calculate the Post-Closing Adjustment, LSL was required to prepare a Working Capital Statement of Apple Services’ business and deliver a copy of same to Respondents within 100 days of closing, or by August 18, 2021. *Id.* § 3.2(a)(i).

For the Post Closing Adjustment to be completed, both parties had to agree on a “final determination of the amount owed.” *Id.* § 3.2(a)(ii). As such, Respondents had thirty days to

review the proposed Working Capital Statement and make any objections thereto (the “Review Period”), or by September 17, 2021. *Id.* § 3.2(b)(i). On or prior to the last day of the Review Period, Respondents were required to submit a Statement of Objections to LSL (if any), and together, the parties had thirty days to resolve any objections (the “Resolution Period”), or by October 17, 2021. *Id.* § 3.2(b)(ii). If the parties were unable to resolve the disputed amounts, they were required to mutually agree on an Independent Accountant who — “acting as experts and not arbitrators” — shall resolve the disputed amounts for the Post Closing Adjustment. *Id.* § 3.2(b)(iii). The Independent Accountant had thirty (30) days after engagement, or as soon as practicable, to resolve the disputed amounts. *Id.* § 3.2(b)(v). If the Independent Accountant resolved the dispute, payment was due by the owing-party within five business days of the resolution. *Id.* § 3.2(b)(iv).

The record shows that LSL prepared a Working Capital Statement and delivered it to Respondents as required by the APA, or by August 18, 2021. However, Respondent Michael Jordan rejected LSL’s proposed calculations and then refused to provide LSL with the necessary financial documentation to finalize the amount owed.² In fact, the evidence shows that LSL provided *several* proposed Closing Working Capital Statements (and proposed Earn-out calculations) to Respondent Jordan, all of which were rejected. *See* Pls.’ Suppl. Mem. at Exh. A, LSL’s Resp. to Req. to Admit No. 14. The record further shows that LSL tried to make “reasonable inquiry to Jordan to provide the necessary financial documentation to finalize the calculation of the Working Capital payment based on Jordan’s objections, yet Jordan has repeatedly refused to

² *See, e.g.,* Pls.’ Suppl. Mem., filed Apr. 16, 2025, at Exh. A, LSL’s Resp. to Req. to Admit No. 14 (“LSL has provided Jordan with several Closing Working Capital Statements indicating LSL’s position regarding the Working Capital payment, but Jordan has refused to accept LSL’s Closing Working Capital Statements or provide the required financial documentation to finalize the Statement.”).

provide this information.” *Id.* at No. 13. Because of Respondent Jordan’s bad-faith and lack of cooperation, the parties were precluded from reaching a “final determination” on the Post-Closing Adjustment.³

b. The Earn-out payment.

The second conditional payment was the Earn-out. The pertinent Earn-out provisions — which reference each other in succession, *see* APA §§ 3.3(a), (d), (e) — begin by requiring LSL to pay Respondents an Earn-out payment of \$882,000, “so long as LTM Revenue for the Earn-Out Period exceeds the Revenue Threshold.” *Id.* § 3.3(a). The Earn-out payment, if any, was to be paid on or before a year after closing, or by May 10, 2022. *Id.* § 3.3(d); *see also* § 3.2(a)(i). Critically, however, the APA then provides LSL with a contractual right to set off the Earn-out payment with any amount owed to it by the Post-Closing Adjustment. *Id.* § 3.3(e). When read together, Sections 3.3(a), (d), and (e) of the APA state that the timing of payment on the Earn-out is “subject to” LSL’s contractual right to setoff the Post Closing Adjustment:

Earn-out Payment. As additional consideration for the Acquired Assets, ***at the time provided in Section 3.3(d)***, Buyer shall pay to Seller with respect to the Earn-out Period an amount, if any (the “*Earn-out Payment*”), equal Eight Hundred Eighty-two Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$882,000.00) so long as LTM Revenue for the Earn-out Period exceeds the Revenue Threshold.

Id. at § 3.3(a) (emphasis added).

Timing of Payment of Earn-out Payments. ***Subject to Section 3.3(e)***, if Buyer is required to make the Earn-out Payment pursuant to Section 3.3(a), such payment shall be made no later than twelve (12) months after the Closing Date....

Id. at § 3.3(d) (emphasis added).

³ *See id.* at No. 12. (“[D]enied that any Working Capital Payment was due on September 30, 2021, based on the APA §3.2(a)(ii) that states the ‘Post-Closing Adjustment shall be paid to the applicable Party no later than thirty (30) days after final determination of the amount of the Post-Closing Adjustment,’ and such final determination has not been made to date due to Jordan’s bad-faith refusal to provide necessary financial documentation for its preparation.”).

Right of Set-off. Buyer *shall have the right to withhold and set off* against any amount otherwise due to be paid pursuant to this Section 3.3 *by the amount of any (i) Post-Closing Adjustment* owed to it pursuant to Section 3.2....

Id. at § 3.3(e) (emphasis added). In this case, the lower court’s original and Amended Orders entered judgment on the Earn-out amount despite denying judgment on the Post-Closing Judgment for insufficient evidence regarding its calculation. Stated another way, the lower court’s Order requires LSL to pay the Earn-out amount before LSL may exercise its contractual right to setoff the Earn-out with the Post-Closing Adjustment.

The APA also contains a dispute resolution mechanism for the Earn-out, *id.* § 3.3(b)(ii), similar to the dispute resolution mechanism provided for the Post-Closing Adjustment. *Id.* § 3.2(b)(ii). If the parties could not resolve any disputed amounts in the Earn-out, they were required to jointly agree on an Independent Accountant who, acting as an expert, shall attempt to resolve any disputed amounts between the parties.

c. The APA precludes interest payments on the Earn-out.

Separately, the APA expressly precludes interest payments on the Earn-out. *Id.* § 3.3(f)(iii) (“The Parties hereto understand and agree that: ... (iii) no interest is payable with respect to the Earn-out Payment.”). While the APA allows for interest on non-payment of the Post-Closing Adjustment, *id.* at § 3.2(a)(ii), the parties expressly agreed not to allow interest on the amount owed for the Earn-out payment. *Id.* § 3.3(f)(iii). Despite this, the lower court’s Amended Order awarded Respondents prejudgment interest on the Earn-out totaling \$229,199.18.

d. Respondents were required by the APA to cooperate in finalizing the Post-Closing Adjustment and Earn-out payment.

LSL provided “several” proposed Working Capital Statements and Earn-out calculations to Respondents, but Respondent Jordan refused to accept the statements and failed to cooperate

with LSL to provide the necessary financial documentation to complete the payments.⁴ Importantly, the APA plainly required Respondents to cooperate with LSL in providing the necessary financial documentation used to calculate the Post-Closing Adjustment and Earn-out calculations, and it also required Respondents to act in good faith to resolve any disputes:

- “The Parties shall timely and properly prepare, execute, file, and deliver all such documents forms and other information *as may reasonably be requested* to prepare such final allocation.” *Id.* § 3.1, Purchase Price (emphasis added);
- “The Parties will execute and deliver such further documents and do such further acts and things *as may be required* to carry out the intent and purpose of this Agreement.” *id.* at § 6.1, Further Assurances (emphasis added).
- “Buyer and Seller shall negotiate in good faith to resolve such objections....” *id.* § 3.2(b)(ii), Working Capital.
- “Buyer and Seller shall negotiate in good faith to resolve the disputed items....” *Id.* § 3.3(b)(ii), Earn-out.

Even the Complaint alleges that Respondent Jordan’s financial records were necessary to perform both the Post Closing Adjustment and Earn-out payment. *See* Compl. ¶ 17 (“[Respondent] Jordan’s accounting records, data, and emails are essential to calculating funds paid for work prior to closing as well as calculations required by the Agreement.”).

Yet, before the lower court, Respondents dismissed LSL’s contention that Jordan’s bad faith and lack of cooperation prevented the parties from reaching a final determination of the amounts owed, arguing that: “There is not one single sentence in the asset purchase agreement which obligates Mr. Jordan or Apple Services, Inc. or any other party on the Plaintiff side of this lawsuit to cooperate with them in producing the statement of working capital, here. It is solely

⁴ *See* Pls.’ Suppl. Mem. at Exh. A, LSL’s Resp. to Req. to Admit, *supra* note 2, 3; *see also id.* at No. 10 (“LSL prepared delivered to Jordan its calculation of the Earn-out payment including LSL’s deduction of the Working Capital payment owed to it pursuant to the APA § 3.3(e), which amount Jordan repeatedly rejected while continuously refusing to cooperate with LSL to reach an agreed-upon amount.”).

within their control.” Transcript of Hearing, Apr. 17, 2025, at 22; *see also* Pls.’ Suppl. Mem. at 6 (“[T]he APA does not require Jordan to cooperate with LSL in order to produce the Working Capital Statement. The plain language of the documents puts the onus *completely on LSL to prepare those statements.*”) (emphasis added). Initially, the lower court agreed with Respondents but later amended its Order to remove this error.⁵

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court reviews a grant of summary judgment using “the same yardstick” as the trial court: viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and drawing all reasonable inferences in her favor. *Abdelgheny v. Moody*, 432 S.C. 346, 349, 852 S.E.2d 225, 227 (Ct. App. 2020). “Summary judgment is a drastic remedy, which should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.” *John Doe v. Batson*, 345 S.C. 316, 321-22, 548 S.E.2d 854, 857 (2001). “Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Ray v. City of Rock Hill*, 434 S.C. 39, 45, 862 S.E.2d 259, 263 (2021). In that same vein, “[s]ummary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.” *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc.*, 349 S.C. 356, 362, 563 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002).

“In determining whether summary judgment is appropriate, the evidence and its reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Baughman v. AT&T*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). “All ambiguities,

⁵ Compare Order, filed May 7, 2025, at 6 (“LSL has also not demonstrated that Jordan is obligated under the APA to provide any information to LSL so that it can prepare the Post-Closing Adjustment.”); with Am. Order, filed June 12, 2025 (removing the cited phrase altogether).

conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the movant.” *Young v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 333 S.C. 714, 718, 511 S.E.2d 413, 415 (Ct. App. 1999).

ARGUMENT

The lower court committed reversible error by entering judgment on the Earn-out payment without first finalizing the Post-Closing Adjustment and applying the necessary setoff, as required by the APA. The APA plainly states that the timing of the Earn-out payment is “subject to” LSL’s right to setoff the Post-Closing Adjustment from the Earn-out. The purpose of this setoff is to prevent LSL from overpaying on the purchase price, and it was agreed to by the parties. Logically, if the Earn-out is subject to a setoff of the Post-Closing Adjustment, and the lower court found that genuine issues of material fact precluded payment on the Post-Closing Adjustment, then the Earn-out cannot be a sum certain at this time, nor can it be due.

In committing this error, the court failed to apply the APA as written. The lower court failed to explain what purpose the “subject to” phrase has in the Earn-out payment provisions if not to mean that the Post-Closing Adjustment is a condition precedent to the Earn-out payment. The lower court’s holding rewrites the APA’s plain terms, rendering the “subject to” clause meaningless, and eliminates LSL’s contractual protection against overpayment.

The lower court failed to give deference to LSL, the nonmoving party, on the evidence and, instead, resolved factual inferences in favor of Respondents or ignored the existence of disputed issues of material fact. This was improper. Too, there was no reason for the lower court to enter partial summary judgment where the parties had not completed meaningful discovery.

Finally, the lower court erred in awarding prejudgment interest of \$229,199.18 on the Earn-out payment, despite clear language in the APA stating that no interest is payable on the Earn-out. Moreover, at law, prejudgment interest is only allowed for liquidated amounts (i.e., sum certain),

but here, the Earn-out cannot be a sum certain because it has not been subject to LSL's contractual right to setoff the Post-Closing Adjustment, as required by the APA.

I. Summary judgment is a drastic remedy that should be entered only after the parties have been provided a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery.

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