RECEIVED

Jan 16 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Williams H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No: 2022-CP-40-02958

Appellate Case No: 2025-001409

Michael D. Jordan, Apple Services, Inc. and Plumbinator 1051, LLC Respondents,

v.

Liquid Services and Logistics, LLC and Tim Freeman Defendants,

Of whom Liquid Services and Logistics, LLC is Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.

James Y. Becker, SC Bar No. 64991
Post Office Drawer 11889
Columbia, SC 29211
Telephone: (803) 779-3080
jbecker@hsblawfirm.com

PORTER & QUINN, LLC

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

II. LSL did not meet its burden of showing a genuine issue of fact in response to Jordan’s properly made and supported Motion.

In the face of Jordan’s properly made and supported Motion, LSL did not have the luxury of resting on its pleadings but rather had the burden to come forth with “specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.” Rule 56(e), SCRCF. LSL argues *incorrectly*, and for the first time in Appellant’s Initial Brief, that “not a single party has been deposed in this case. No experts have been identified. And judging by the record before the Court, little written discovery has been completed.” (AIB p. 16). This issue is not preserved for this Court’s review. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998) (holding that an argument must have been raised to and ruled on by the circuit court to be preserved for appellate review).

In addition, this statement is false and irrelevant to the inquiry at the Rule 56 stage as LSL was required to present facts showing a genuine issue for trial. Plaintiff had ample time to conduct any discovery it wished. It simply failed to do so. The complaint in this matter was filed on June 8, 2022. Sixteen months and 3 weeks later on October 30, 2023, Plaintiffs filed the subject Motion on the breach of contract claim. Seventeen months and 2 weeks later, on April 17, 2025, the trial court held a hearing on the Motion. If, in fact, a lack of discovery prevented LSL from adequately opposing the Motion, it was incumbent on LSL to file an affidavit pursuant to Rule 56(f) demonstrating this fact. It did not do so.

LSL further argues that the Court erred by relying on the affidavits of Plaintiff Jordan, Ashley Hawn, and Stephen Porter, which were submitted with Plaintiffs' original motion for partial summary judgment. (LSL Mot. to Alter or Amend at 16). Rule 56 contemplates that motions for summary judgment will be decided based on the summary judgment record, including affidavits. To the extent the affidavits contain information within the personal knowledge of the affiant, they are not hearsay. Under Rule 56(e), a responding party has a range of alternatives for rebutting a submitted affidavit. LSL did not elect to pursue those options. There was nothing inappropriate about the consideration of the affidavits. Furthermore, none of the affidavits are cited in the Order other than to state that Plaintiffs submitted them in support of their motion for partial summary judgment. (Order). The findings of fact in the Order are grounded solely upon the plain language of the APA and LSL's responses to the Plaintiffs' Requests for Admission. (Order). Therefore, the consideration of the affidavits does not present a basis for reversal.

LSL further argues that the Court erroneously relied on an email from Darra Coleman dated May 17, 2022, for purposes of establishing the Earn-out. (AIB pp. 27-28). This is also inaccurate. LSL, not Plaintiffs, relied on this email to attempt to side-step its obligations under the APA and

to argue that the Earn-out Payment was not yet due, despite being earned, a fact clearly admitted in LSL's responses to Plaintiffs' Request for Admit. No. 8.⁷ Plaintiffs, and in turn, the Court, addressed this email only to establish that LSL does not have any viable evidence to support the assertion that the Earn-out Payment was not yet due, because the email does not represent an agreement between the parties to an "adjusted timeline for payment of the Earn-out." Assuming, as LSL suggests, but without conceding, that this email is hearsay evidence and does not meet basic authentication requirements, and thus cannot be relied on to support summary judgment (AIB p. 27), then Plaintiffs have no evidence in support of their theory that the parties agreed to an "adjusted timeline for payment of the Earn-out" and have abandoned that argument in opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion.

III. Jordan is entitled to prejudgment interest on the Earn-out Payment.

A. The Earn-out Payment is a sum certain that is due and owing.

"The law permits the award of prejudgment interest when a monetary obligation is a sum certain, or is capable of being reduced to certainty, accruing from the time payment may be demanded either by the agreement of the parties or the operation of law." *Miller Constr. Co., LLC v. PC Constr. of Greenwood, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 186, 206–07, 791 S.E.2d 321, 332 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting *Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon*, 381 S.C. 417, 435, 673 S.E.2d 448, 457 (2009)); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 34–31–20(A) ("In all cases of accounts stated and in all cases

⁷ Request to Admit No 8: "The Earn-out Payment" was earned and due to be paid to Jordan by LSL on May 10, 2022.

"RESPONSE: Admitted that the Earn-out payment was earned but denied that the Earn-out payment was due to be paid to Jordan by LSL on May 10, 2022, based on correspondence between the parties acknowledging an adjusted timeline for payment of the Earn-out, pursuant to the May 17, 2022, email from Stephen Porter to Darra Coleman." (Pls.' Supp. Memo, 4/16/2025, at Exh A, LSL Resp. Pls.' Req. to Admit No. 8).

wherein any sum or sums of money shall be ascertained and, being due, shall draw interest according to law, the legal interest shall be at the rate of eight and three-fourths percent [8¾%] per annum.”).

LSL argues that “prejudgment interest is not appropriate here because the Earn-out payment has not been calculated with certainty absent the setoff of the Post-Closing Adjustment.” (AIB at p. 34). “*The right of a party to prejudgment interest is not affected by rights of discount or offset claimed by the opposing party. It is the character of the claim and not the defense to it that determines whether prejudgment interest is allowable.*” *Miller Constr. Co., LLC*, 418 S.C. at 207, 791 S.E.2d at 332–33 (quoting *Butler Contracting, Inc.*, 369 S.C. at 133–34, 631 S.E.2d at 259). “The fact that the amount due is disputed does not render the claim unliquidated for purposes of awarding prejudgment interest. Rather, the proper test is ‘whether or not the measure of recovery, not necessarily the amount of damages, is fixed by conditions existing at the time the claim arose.’” *Miller Constr. Co., LLC*, 418 S.C. at 207, 791 S.E.2d at 332–33 (quoting *Butler Contracting, Inc.*, 369 S.C. at 133, 631 S.E.2d at 259). Here, there can be no question that the “measure of recovery,” \$882,000.00, was “fixed by conditions existing at the time the claim arose,” because it was plainly stated in the APA.⁸

LSL’s reliance on *Hess v. Morphis Pediatric Grp. of Lancaster, P.A.*, 446 S.C. 389, 416, 920 S.E.2d 1, 15 (Ct. App. 2025) is misplaced because that case is distinguishable from this one. In *Hess*, a physician sued his employer for payment of wages and a share of the profits of the business pursuant to a 2010 employment agreement. The *Hess* court agreed that prejudgment

⁸ If the Post Closing Adjustment results in an amount due to LSL, then that obligation will bear interest at 12% per annum from the time of the Post-Closing Adjustment Due Date to the time it is “paid in full.” (Compl. Exh. A, APA §3.2(a)(ii). This is a greater amount of interest than the legal rate of 8.75% pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 34–31–20(A).

interest should be denied given the “uncertainty [] involved because many terms in Hess’s employment agreement were unclear and undefined” and reversed the award of prejudgment interest finding:

Although the 2010 Agreement states that Hess would receive 50% of the year’s profits, it does not make certain what “debts, expenses, royalties, and expenditures” can be taken out of the profits before calculating his bonus. Thus, Hess’s claims were unliquidated because the amount of his bonuses could not be reduced to a certainty.

Id., 446 S.C. at 416, 920 S.E.2d at 15.

LSL mistakenly compares the above process involved in *Hess* of determining the amount of net revenue of a business after deducting business expenses, or calculating what are the actual business profits, subject to the 50% compensation bonus payment amid “unclear and undefined” agreement terms, as “akin to a setoff.” (AIB at p. 35). This is not a fair characterization.

In contrast, here, the Earn-out Payment is a stated sum certain specifically set forth in the APA. There is no uncertainty and no genuine issue of material fact as to the amount of the Earn-out Payment. The amount of the Earn-out Payment is not subject to being calculated by any formula with “unclear and undefined” inputs or the subjective application of generally accepted accounting principles. It is the quintessential “liquidated” sum. The only calculation involved was whether the LTM Revenue Threshold had been met, and LSL has admitted, albeit only after years of litigation, that it was and that the sum certain Earn-out Payment had been “earned.” The Earn-out Payment is also therefore demandable “by the agreement of the parties.” *Miller Constr. Co., LLC* 418 S.C. at 206–07, 791 S.E.2d 332.

B. The APA does not prohibit an award of prejudgment interest on the Earn-out Payment.

LSL argued for the first time in its Rule 59(e) motion that the APA’s Earn-out section prohibits an award of prejudgment interest because it states “no interest is payable with respect to

the Earn-out Payment.” (Compl. Exh. A, APA § 3.3(f)). This argument was not made previously and a party cannot raise new arguments in a Rule 59(e) motion. *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990). For this reason, the argument is not preserved for appellate review.

Whether preserved for review or not, LSL’s proposed interpretation of section 3.3(f) is not reasonable because it disregards the contractual and regulatory context of Section 3.3(f). In whole, Section 3.3(f) provides:

No Security: The Parties hereto understand and agree that (i) the contingent rights to receive the Earn-out Payment shall not be represented by any form of certificate or other instrument, are not transferable, except by operation of Law relating to descent and distribution, divorce and community property, and do not constitute and equity or ownership interest in Buyer, (ii) Seller shall not have any rights as a security holder of Buyer as a result of Seller’s contingent right to receive the Earn-out Payment hereunder, and (iii) no interest is payable with respect to the Earn-out Payment.

(Compl. Exh. A, APA § 3.3(f)).

The purpose of Section 3.3(f) is to ensure that the earn-out right is not classified as a security under U.S. securities law, thereby avoiding the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), through a series of no-action letters beginning in 1988 has consistently identified five factors to determine whether an earn-out payment is a contractual right rather than a security,

- (1) it is an integral part of the consideration to be received in the proposed transaction;
- (2) it is not represented by a form of certificate or instrument;
- (3) the holder of the earn-out right has no rights common to stockholders such as voting and dividend rights, **nor does the earn-out right bear a stated interest rate**;
- (4) it does not represent an equity or ownership interest in the buyer or the target company;
- (5) it is not assignable or transferable, except by operation of law.

Ryan Murr, Stephen Glover, Branden Berns, Behind The ‘CVR Spin’ Method Of Unlocking Assets

In M&A, Page 3, citations included on page 7 (Law360, March 11, 2024)

<https://www.gibsondunn.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/Murr-Glover-Berns-Behind-The->

[CVR-Spin-Method-Of-Unlocking-Assets-In-MA-Law360-3-11-24.pdf](#); Richard De Rose, The Ins and Outs of Earn-Outs: A Delaware Perspective (American Bar Association, March 18, 2022).

For example, in the no action letter to Minnesota Mining and Manufacturing Company (“3M”) dated October 13, 1988, the SEC staff did not require registration under the Securities Act for contingent payment rights structured as part of the merger consideration in a stock-for-stock acquisition. *Minnesota Mining & Mfg. Co.*, 1988 WL 234978 (S.E.C. No - Action Letter Oct. 13, 1988). There, a portion of the consideration took the form of contingent rights, similar to an earnout, entitling the former shareholders of the acquired company to receive additional shares of 3M common stock if specified post-closing performance targets were achieved. The SEC Staff cited the following factors as relevant to its decision: (1) the contingent rights were an integral component of the merger consideration; (2) the holders of the rights had no stockholder privileges, such as voting or dividend rights; (3) the contingent rights bore no stated interest; (4) the contingent rights were nontransferable except by operation of law; and (5) the contingent rights were not represented by any form of certificate or instrument. (*Id.*)

The inclusion of the “no interest payable” clause specifically addresses the third factor. The intent of Section 3.3(f) was to reinforce that the Earn-out Payment lacks characteristics of an investment security, not to preclude prejudgment interest as a statutory remedy resulting from delayed payment of a contractual obligation.⁹ Allowing LSL to evade prejudgment interest would

⁹ Further, the commentary on the template document underlying the APA between the parties highlights these factors as the rationale for including Section 3.3(f): “Parties should include this provision to ensure the right to receive the earn-out payments is not deemed to be a security under applicable U.S. securities laws.” *Purchase Agreement: Earn-Out with EBITDA Targets*, Practical Law Corporate & Securities (Thomson Reuters, 2025), available on Westlaw (Practical Law Document No. 2-501-7344).

<https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/I03f4dac8eee311e28578f7ccc38dcbee/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&contextData=%28sc.RelatedInfo%29&cacheScope=undefined&>

reward noncompliance with contractual obligations, contrary to both parties' intent and established principles of contract law.

Furthermore, the interpretation suggested by LSL is not reasonable or fair because it would allow LSL to indefinitely withhold payment of the Earn-out without consequence or penalty, as it has done in this case. In fairness to the seller, contract payments of a sum certain which have been "earned" and are "demandable" pursuant to the contract should qualify for pre-judgment interest to prevent unjust enrichment to the Buyer and a forfeiture for the Seller. Based on South Carolina law, a judgment debtor must pay interest "as compensation for his continued retention and use of the creditor's money beyond the date payment was due." *Sears v. Fowler*, 293 S.C. 43, 45-46, 358 S.E.2d 574, 575 (1987). In *Butler v. Contracting, Inc. v. Court Street, LLC*, the South Carolina Supreme Court emphasized that a debtor could not hold back a due sum without compensation to the creditor when the sum was certain or reducible to certainty because a dispute as to the amount does not make a claim unliquidated, and importantly, offsets and counterclaims cannot defeat a claim for prejudgment interest because "it is the character of the claim and not the defense to it" that governs entitlement. 369 S.C. at 133-35, 631 S.E.2d at 258-59.

Here, the earn-out is a stated sum certain of \$882,000.00. This sum was earned upon satisfaction of the APA's threshold metric and demandable on the APA's due date. Therefore, as emphasized by the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Butler*, LSL may not indefinitely withhold this sum certain without compensating Jordan for the time-value of the withheld payment. Denying interest would allow LSL to unjustly benefit from delay: LSL would have *de facto* use of the funds—effectively an interest free loan—while Jordan is deprived of the economic value of money

rightfully owed. This is exactly the kind of inequitable result South Carolina's statutory and common law prohibits.

C. The right to prejudgment interest is a statutory remedy that has not been waived.

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